






























 
 

      
 
To:    Dexter Legg, Chair Planning Board 

Cc:    Karen S. Conard, City Manager   

From:    Rosann Lentz, City Assessor  Rosann Lentz 

Date:    May 10, 2021 

RE:  City Council Referral‐ Request of Restoration of Involuntarily Merged Lots to pre‐merger status 
at 635 Lincoln Ave 

 

 
At its meeting on May 4, 2021, the City Council considered a request from Bradley M. Lown, Esq. of Rainboth, 
Murphy  &  Lown,  PA,  on  behalf  of  the  property  owner  Marcie  Shearman,  requesting  the  restoration  of 
involuntarily merged lots at 635 Lincoln Ave to their pre‐merger status pursuant to NH RSA 674:39‐aa.  These 
lots are represented as historical  lot numbers 2 and 3.   The Council voted to refer to the Planning Board and 
Assessor for report back. 
 
Description 
Current assessment records identify the parcel as having .44 +‐ acres with a 3 bedroom 3.5 bath single family 
dwelling built around 1896 located on the parcel.  Older assessment records dating back to the 50’s identified 
the parcel as 2 separate lots until 1972. 
 
History 
Deeds:  According to the deeds researched back to 1909 Book 646 Page 344 and 1916 Book 707 Page 274 two 
vacant lots were deeded individually to Lottie M. Paterson and the other to Charlotte Paterson.  In proceeding 
years these two lots were deeded separately until 1985 when they appear in one deed; book 2552 page 829. 
 
Property Assessment Records: Between 1953 and 1971 property assessment records show Plan 40  Lots 2 and 
3  separately  assessed.    Assessment  records  for  Tax  Year  1972  show  one  assessment  for  both  lots  (See 
Enclosures). 
 
Building Inspection/Planning Records 
In 1998, John & Marica Sherman applied for a building permit for a deck and greenhouse to be attached to the 
dwelling  located at 635 Lincoln Ave.   As part of the permitting process, a sketch was submitted along with a 
plot plan and a survey of the lot with the placement of the dwelling indicated on the survey (See Enclosures).  
 
Court Decisions 
Upon  review  of  various  court  decisions  concerning  the  denial  of  restorations  of  lots,  the  State  of  New 
Hampshire Supreme Court case of Charles A. Roberts v. Town of Windham; Rockingham 165 N.H.186 (2013), 
agreed with  the  lower  court’s decision of voluntary merger.   This decision  in part  looked at  the use of  the 
property in its entirety by reviewing a lots physical characteristics and the changes that occurred over time to 
the placement of buildings, driveways, outbuildings etc. The totality of changes can reasonably support that  
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lots by predecessors or current owners were voluntarily merged when facts show the primary and accessory 
buildings, access, etc. work as a unit.    
 
Summary 
Upon  review of  the Map Geo 2020 Ariel  and of  the boundary  survey which was  submitted  to  the building 
inspection office June 8, 1988, it is clear that the dwelling was constructed sometime in 1900’s straddling the 
property  lines of  the  two  lots  identified above  (See Enclosures).   Additionally,  the greenhouse and  the deck 
that were added to the dwelling in 1988 also straddled Lots 2 and 3.   
 
No  written  request  for  voluntary  merger  was  found.    The  New  Hampshire  Municipal  Association  has 
interpreted the above court decision to mean, “Governing bodies and zoning boards of adjustment now know 
they should review requests to unmerge lots based upon all of the circumstances of actual use of the property, 
and that the  lack of a request to voluntarily merge the lots by the current or former owner will not, standing 
alone, support such a request”). 
 
The taxpayers have requested  lots 17 and 18 also  identified as Plan 40 Lots 2 and 3 to be unmerged to their 
premerger boundaries. Based upon my research,  it  is recommended  this request be denied as  it  is clear the 
property in its totality works as a unit and cannot be separately assessed or unmerged.  
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Property Information

Property ID 0148-0038-0000
Location 635 LINCOLN AVE
Owner SHEARMAN MARCIA J

MAP FOR REFERENCE ONLY
NOT A LEGAL DOCUMENT

City of Portsmouth, NH makes no claims and no warranties,
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the GIS data presented on this map.

Geometry updated 4/1/2019
Data updated 7/17/2019
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